

DOE Data Center Air-Management (AM) Tool:

User's Manual

Version 2 (June 30, 2021)

The User's Manual and the Air Management Tool were developed jointly by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL) and ANCIS Incorporated for the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE)



www.ancis.us

DISCLAIMER

This document was prepared as part of work sponsored by the United States Government. While this document is believed to contain correct information, neither the United States Government, nor any agency thereof, nor The Regents of the University of California, operator of the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory under DOE Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231, nor any of their employees or licensors, make any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by its trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof, or The Regents of the University of California. The views and opinions of the authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof or The Regents of the University of California.

The materials contained in this document are being provided for training purposes only, and may not be reproduced by any means; including electronic, mechanical photocopying or recording, except as may be expressly permitted by the 1976 Copyright Act or with the prior written permission of The Regents of the University of California. Distribution for commercial purposes, and/or the preparation and dissemination of derivative works based on these materials is strictly prohibited.

Notice: Materials contained in this document were produced under Contract DE-AC02-05CH11231 with the U.S. Department of Energy. Accordingly, the Government has certain rights in this copyrighted work.

Copyright© 2021 The Regents of the University of California, operator of the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. All Rights Reserved.

Trademark Notice: Rack Cooling Index (RCI) is a Registered Trademark and Return Temperature Index (RTI) is a Trademark of ANCIS Incorporated (www.ancis.us)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FIGURE AND TABLE LISTINGS	4
OVERVIEW	5
What does this Tool do?	5
How is the Tool used?	5
DOE Software Tool Suite	5
Tool Download and Documentation	5
Tool Structure	6
INPUT/OUTPUT SHEETS	7
Step 1 AHU	8
Step 2 Equipment	10
Step 3 RCI	13
Step 4 Main Input	15
Step 5 Main Results	18
Step 6 Energy Results	20
Lookup	23
Action Rules	24
Export	25
SUMMARY OF REQUIRED NUMERICAL INPUT DATA	26
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	27
REFERENCES	28

FIGURES

Figure 1: Overview sheet	6
Figure 2: Step 1 AHU sheet, upper part	9
Figure 3: Step 1 AHU sheet, lower part	9
Figure 4: Step 2 Equipment sheet	12
Figure 5: Step 3 RCI sheet, upper part	14
Figure 6: Step 3 RCI sheet, lower part	14
Figure 7: Step 4 Main Input sheet, upper part	17
Figure 8: Step 4 Main Input sheet, lower part	17
Figure 9: Step 5 Main Results sheet, upper part	19
Figure 10: Step 5 Main Results sheet, lower part	19
Figure 11: Step 6 Energy Results sheet	20
Figure 12. CO ₂ emission rates and electricity generation fuel mix	22
Figure 13: Lookup sheet	23
Figure 14: Export sheet	25

TABLES

Table 1: Typical temperature rise across IT equipment	11
Table 2: Required numerical input data	25

OVERVIEW

What does this Tool do?

Air management in data centers is essentially about keeping cold and hot air from mixing. Cold supply air from the air handler should enter the heat-generating IT-equipment without mixing with ambient air and the hot exhaust air should return to the air handler without mixing. Managing the cold and hot air streams in data centers is important for cooling infrastructure energy/capacity management and IT-equipment thermal management.

The DOE Data Center Air-Management Tool was developed to help accelerate the energy savings in data centers without affecting the thermal IT-equipment environment. Based on user input, the Tool provides air management recommendations and the potential for reducing the supply airflow rate and increasing the supply air temperature, both having an impact on energy use. Finally, the Tool estimates the % energy reduction, kWh reduction, and the associated \$ and carbon savings for supply fans and chillers.

The underlying assumption for this Tool is sufficiently stable environmental conditions, for example, the air handlers may well have variable air volume (VAV) fans but they are assumed operating at a stable constant reduced airflow. Since the majority of conventional data centers has raised-floor cooling with hot and cold equipment aisles, this Tool is intended mainly for such environments. Having some basic understanding of the physical data center environment makes this Tool easier to understand and use.

How is the Tool used?

First, the user fills in data and answers questions on four input Excel sheets (Steps 1-4). Each sheet includes basic guidance for entering the data correctly. This User's Manual provides additional information. Second, based on this user input, numerical output and recommended actions are given on two result output Excel sheets (Steps 5 and 6). An Engineering Reference (DOE 2014a) and a Data Collection Guide (DOE 2014b) complete the support documentation.

DOE Software Tool Suite

This Air Management Tool is part of the DOE Software Tool Suite (DOE, 2021) which also includes an online Profiling Tool (DC Pro), an Excel-based Electrical Tool, and an Excel-based IT Equipment Tool. These tools are not a substitute for a detailed "investment grade" audit. They provide estimates of savings for various measures, but actual savings may vary based on site-specific conditions that are not addressed in the tools.

Tool Download and Documentation

The Air Management Tool can be downloaded from the Center of Expertise for Energy Efficiency in Data Centers website: <u>http://datacenters.lbl.gov/tools</u>. After downloading the Tool, there are three complementary documents on the same website for facilitating the use of the Tool:

- The User's Manual (this document) provides information on using the Tool.
- The *Engineering Reference* provides detailed information on the calculations, equations, metrics, and limitations.
- The Data Collection Guide provides information on collecting the necessary input data.

Questions, comments, and/or suggestions on these documents can be directed to mherrlin@ancis.us

Tool Structure

The Air-Management Tool has seven color coded Excel sheets for input and output plus three hidden sheets (see Figure 1):

Overview	Provides an overview of the data flow through the Excel sheets
Step 1: AHU	User input: Air-handler unit (AHU) data for calculating the RTI metric
Step 2: Equip	User input: Electronic equipment data for calculating the RTI metric
Step 3: RCI	User input: Equipment intake temperatures for calculating the RCI metric
Step 4: Main Input	User input: Main user input, including metrics from Steps 1-3
Step 5: Main Results	Result output: Main results but excluding energy estimates
Step 6: Energy Results	Result output: Energy estimates for supply fans and chillers
Lookup	Lookup tables for internal use (hidden)
Action Rules	Rules for triggering actions or recommendations (hidden)
Export	Output for post-processing (hidden).

The Overview sheet allows the selection of either I-P (American) or SI (International) units. Please note that selecting I-P or SI units will not change the numerical values already entered into the Tool. Therefore, the selection of units should be done before any data are entered on subsequent sheets. In addition, the computer must always use the US number format, i.e., decimal <u>point</u> (even when SI units are selected).

K Cut Call La Copy Copy Comat Painter	bri • 11 I <u>U</u> • 🖽 •	• A' A' 3• • <u>A</u> •		- ≫ ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	Wrap Wrap		General \$ • 9	• * ***		ial Forma g * as Tabl			Bad Calculatio		ood Ieck Cell		Insert Del	te Format	∑ AutoSum Fill *	Sort & Fi	nd &
Clipboard 🕫	Font	0		Aligni	nent	0	N	amber -	a –			SI	ytes				Ce	ls –	E	diting	
AV46 - 💿	f _x																				
A B	C D	E	F	G	н	- 1	J	K	L	м	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	Т	U	V	w	X
VERVIEW		Data Cente	r Air-Mana	gement T	ool, Versio	on 1.16 Ma	y 10, 2011														
								Laboratory													
								perator of th													
		Rack Coolir	ig Index (Ri	CI) is a Reg	gistered Tri	ademark a	and Return	Temperatu	re Index (RT	l) is a Tra	demark o	f ANCIS In	corporated	www.an	ds.us)						
Vorksheet	Descriptio	n									this Tool										
													ers is import								
	This Sheet		in overviev	v of the d	ata flow ar	nd selectio		(I-P or SI).					provides air ply airflow r								
tep 1: AHU	User input	: Air-handl	er unit (AH	(I) data fo	r calculatir	og metric F							ergy use) wit						tre		
													stimates the								
itep 2: Equip	User input	: Electronic	equipmen	t data for	calculating	g metric Ri	n.		п	nis Tool is	intende	d mainly f	or raised-flo	or cooling	; with hot/c	old aisl	25.				
tep 3: RCI	User input	: Equipmer	it intake te	mperatur	es for calc.	ulating me	tric RCI.				Tool use		answers qu	ostions or	the four in	eut che	ate (Stone	1 A) Each			
teo 4: Main Input	User input	: Main user	input, incl	uding calc	ulated me	trics from	Steps 1-3						for entering								
													ecommende						ts		
tep 5: Main Results	Result out	put: Main r	esults but e	excluding	energy est	timates.			(5	teps 5-6)	. User's N	lanual, En	gineering Re	ference,	and Data Co	llection	Guide are	being devi	eloped.		
tep 6: Energy Results	Result out	put: Energy	restimates	for fans a	nd chillers	i.				ool suite		at Tool is a	part of a tool	levite vit	ich include	e unvac	alactrical	and IT too	de .		
ookup	Lookup tal	bles for inte	ernal use (h	idden)									are designe					, and in too	15.		
				,									Ŭ								
action Rules	Rules for t	riggering a	tions or re	commenc	lations (hi	dden)							suggestion	s?							
									P	ease con	tact mher	rrlin@anci	s.us								
xport	Output for	post-proce	essing (hido	Jen)																	
	Selection	of Units	I-P																		
		of I-P or SI u																			
	numerical	values alre	ady entere	d into cel	ls.																
	ARU AREA 2																				

Figure 1: Overview sheet.

INPUT/OUTPUT SHEETS

This section describes the input and output sheets in the order they appear in the Excel Tool. This section can be read "from cover to cover" or as a reference manual for finding particular information on any of the sheets. General Information applicable to all four input sheets includes:

- Yellow cells indicate cells where to input data. All other cells are permanently locked.
- Dual units are shown next to each yellow input cell (e.g., °F or °C). The first unit represents I-P units and the second unit represents SI units. I-P or SI units are selected on the Overview sheet.
- Colored cells (besides yellow) indicate data that are exported to or imported from other sheets. The cells are color coded per the receiving or originating sheet (tab) color.
- Grayed out data are for internal use only, generally showing intermediate calculation steps.
- All input cells have input-range checking to avoid data-entry errors. If an input is Out of Range, check the accuracy of the input.
- Some input cells accept typed data whereas other cells have fixed options selected from dropdown boxes. The drop-down boxes are activated by simply selecting the cell.
- Some input cells have Input guidance, which is activated by selecting the cell. You can temporarily drag the input guidance box to a different location on the worksheet to avoid interference with other input cells. All input guidance boxes on that worksheet will then appear in that location. Use the ESC key to close.
- The screen shots included in this User's Manual can be difficult to read at the conventional 100% zoom level. Use the zoom capability of your software to enlarge the figures. Note that the screen shots may differ slightly from the latest version of the Tool.
- The Tool comes preloaded with data for a simple case.

Step 1 AHU

"Step 1 AHU" is the first of four input sheets. It is imperative to enter (accurate) data on this sheet.

By entering the requested air-handling unit (AHU) data (yellow cells) for up to 40 operating units, this sheet will calculate five pieces of data (orange boxes) and export them to the Main Input (Step 4) sheet.

The principal purpose of the data transfer to the Main Input sheet is to help calculate the Return Temperature Index (RTI)[™] on the Main Input sheet. This index plays an important role in understanding whether the data center is over-ventilated (by-pass air) or under-ventilated (recirculation air) (Herrlin 2008). For more information on RTI, please see section Step 4 Main Input.

Input data (yellow cells) (Figure 2):

- AHU Airflow [cfm or m³/s]
- Supply Air Temperature [°F or °C]
- Return Air Temperature [°F or °C].

It is recommended to enter the AHU units from the top (AHU 1) down in the yellow input table. At least one AHU must be entered. An ERROR message will appear in column H if the supply temperature is greater or equal to the return temperature. Clear such an error before proceeding.

Note that high supply air temperatures save energy at the chiller level but may increase the energy usage at the server level. Generally, server fans speed up at intake temperatures above 77°F (25°C) to ensure adequate cooling. This effect is not taken into consideration in the Air Management Tool. For guidance on determining (measuring) the input data, see the Data Collection Guide.

Calculated data exported to the Main Input sheet (orange cells) (Figure 3):

- Total AHU Airflow [cfm or m³/s] and AHU Count [-]
- Max-Min AHU supply temperature [°F or °C]
- Typical (airflow weighted) AHU supply air temperature [°F or °C]
- Typical (airflow weighted) AHU temperature drop [°F or °C].

Other calculated data (white cells):

- AHU kW Cooling
- AHU Ton Cooling

Resulting AHU kW cooling and AHU Ton Cooling (the heat extraction from the room by mechanical means and/or by free cooling) are calculated based on Total AHU Airflow and Typical (airflow weighted) AHU temperature drop. Note that AHU data are considered more robust than Equipment data (Step 2); Equipment Power (heat) is set equal to Resulting AHU Cooling (heat balance in room).

If there is a separate air-side economizer (one that provides cooling and airflow in addition to the AHUs) it could be specified as another "AHU". The Other Calculated Data listed above will then include the associated cooling effect. However, disregard separate fresh-air systems that generally have limited airflows. For built-in economizers, no additional entries are necessary.

For calculation details, see the *Engineering Reference*.







Figure 3: Step 1 AHU sheet, lower part.

Step 2 Equipment

"Step 2 Equipment" is the second of four input sheets.

By inserting the requested equipment data (yellow cells), this spreadsheet will calculate two pieces of data (orange boxes) and export them to the Main Input (Step 4) sheet. "Equipment" includes heat-generating electronic equipment (IT) as well as electric equipment such as PDU and UPS.

The principal purpose of the data transfer is to help calculate the Return Temperature Index (RTI)[™] on the Main Input sheet. This index plays an important role in understanding whether the data center is over-ventilated (by-pass air) or under-ventilated (recirculation air) (Herrlin 2008). For more information on RTI, please see section Step 4 Main Input.

Since determining the equipment input data may be a challenging task, three options are available through the "Select Class Option" cell in the upper left corner of the spreadsheet. Select the cell to activate the drop-down box. Selection will display relevant table headings and yellow input cells. The option to select depends on which data are available and the quality of the data.

Depending on the selection, group the equipment into Classes with similar temperature rise (DT) or airflow rates (V) and fill in the remaining yellow input cells. Note that a "Class" can be on server, rack, or any spatial level defined by the user. Unique inputs for every piece of equipment, rather than consolidation into equipment Classes, are not allowed. Furthermore, only one Class Option can be selected for all input.

One of the following Class Options can be selected:

• Similar DT: "Class" refers here to equipment with similar Measured Temperature Rise (DT); used with corresponding fair estimates of Airflow (V). The manufacturers' published thermal reports or their online thermal calculators can also be used for estimating the equipment airflow and temperature rise.

Input data (yellow cells):

- Measured Temperature Rise arranged in Classes (DT) [°F or °C]
- Estimated (low quality) Airflow per Class (V) [cfm or m³/s].
- Similar V: "Class" refers here to equipment with similar Estimated Airflow (V); used with corresponding Number of Units (U). Use the manufacturers' published thermal reports or their online thermal calculators for estimating the equipment airflow.

Input data (yellow cells):

- Estimated (high quality) Airflow (V) [cfm or m³/s]
- Number of Units (U) [-].
- Similar DT(P): "Class" refers here to equipment with similar Measured Temperature Rise (DT); used with corresponding Measured Power (P) (Figure 4). Do not use nameplate power as a replacement for lack of measured power data. Instead, use the manufacturers' published

thermal reports or their online thermal calculators for estimating the equipment power and temperature rise.

Input data (yellow cells):

- Measured Temperature Rise (DT) [°F or °C]
- Measured Power (P) [W].

Although not required, it is recommended to enter the Classes from the top (Class 1) down in the yellow input tables. For more guidance on determining the input data for all three options, see the *Data Collection Guide*.

If no data are available, select "Similar DT" and fill in one row only. Estimate DT (table below may help) and set Airflow to any positive number. The trend is towards higher temperature rise across the electronic equipment.

Equipment Mix	ΔT [°F]	ΔT [°C]
Mainly traditional equipment	10 to 20	6 to 11
Mainly modern equipment	20 to 30	11 to 17
Mainly blade equipment	30 to 50	17 to 28

Table 1: Typical temperature rise across IT equipment

Calculated data exported to the Main Input sheet (orange cells):

- Typical (airflow weighted) equipment temperature rise [°F or °C]
 - "Similar DT": Based on yellow cells
 - o "Similar V" or "Similar DT(P)": Based on Total Equipment Airflow and AHU data.
- Total Equipment Airflow
 - "Similar V" or "Similar DT(P)": Based on yellow cells
 - "Similar DT": Based on Typical (airflow weighted) equipment temperature rise and AHU data.

Other calculated data (white cells):

• Equipment Power (= AHU cooling) [kW].

Compare with UPS readings—if available. If the UPS equipment is located outside the data center room, use the delivered UPS power. If poor agreement, revisit Steps 1 and 2, looking for potential errors. Note that the AHU data (Step 1) are considered more robust than the Equipment data; Equipment Power (heat) is set equal to Resulting AHU Cooling (heat balance in room).

• Total Measured Power (Similar DT(P) option only) [kW].

Compare with Equipment Power. If poor agreement (>10% difference), revisit Steps 1 and 2 to avoid large errors in the Total Equipment Airflow and Typical (airflow weighted) Equipment Temperature Rise. Poor agreement will not affect the Equipment Power (white box).

For calculation details, see the *Engineering Reference*.



Figure 4: Step 2 Equipment sheet (Class Option DT(P) is selected in this screen shot).

Step 3 RCI

"Step 3 RCI" is the third of four input sheets.

The Rack Cooling Index (RCI)[®] plays an important role in understanding whether the data center is complying with the recommended and allowable intake temperature ranges (Herrlin 2005). These ranges are specified in Step 4 Main Input under "Current" for Questions 1 and 2 in Table B. The selected ranges are echoed next to the Intake Temperature plot.

The RCI is a performance metric explicitly designed to gauge compliance with the thermal guidelines of ASHRAE (2021) and NEBS for a given data center. The RCI is often used to make sure that no degradation of the thermal environment occurs when air-management measures are introduced for the purpose of saving energy. This index compresses the equipment intake temperatures into two numbers: RCI_{HI} and RCI_{LO} . The RCI is a measure of how effectively equipment racks are cooled within a given thermal guideline, both at the high end and at the low end of the temperature range.

Specifically, the RCI_{HI} is a measure of the absence of over-temperatures, and 100% means no overtemperatures. Over-temperature conditions exist once one or more intake temperatures exceed the maximum recommended temperature. The lower the percentage, the greater probability (risk) that equipment experiences temperatures above the max allowable temperature. Indication of such potentially harmful thermal conditions is provided by a warning flag "*" appended to the index, generally indicating localized overheating. A value below 90% is often characterized as "poor." An analogous index is defined for temperature conditions at the low end of the temperature range. An RCI_{LO} of 100% mean no under-temperatures. Both RCI numbers at 100% mean that all intake temperatures are within the recommended temperature range; i.e., absolute compliance.

Input data (yellow cells):

• Intake Temperature [°F or °C].

A maximum of 999 intake temperatures is allowed (Figure 6). The data must be inserted from the top down. If no data are available, leave all yellow input cells blank.

Calculated data exported to the Main Input sheet (orange cells):

• RCI_{HI} [%] ("*" appended to the index means at least one intake > max allowable)

• RCI_{LO} [%] ("*" appended to the index means at least one intake < min allowable) The spreadsheet will calculate the Rack Cooling Index (RCI) and export RCI_{HI} and RCI_{LO} (orange cells) to the Main Input (Step 4) sheet. If either value is below 90%, a warning will be shown in red.

Other calculated data (white cells):

• Intake Temperature Plot (Figure 5).

The Intake Temperature plot shows a graphical representation of the entered intake temperatures. The plot will dynamically update and scale with changes made to the intake temperatures and number of intake temperatures, respectively. The corresponding RCI values are shown immediately to the right of the plot in the orange boxes.

For RCI definitions, equations, and calculations, see the *Engineering Reference*. For guidance on determining the intake temperatures, see the *Data Collection Guide*.



Figure 5: Step 3 RCI sheet, upper part.



Figure 6: Step 3 RCI sheet, lower part.

Step 4 Main Input

"Step 4 Main Input" is the last of four input sheets (although some data can be entered on "Step 6").

Table A shows air-management metrics (Figure 7):

- Yellow cells: Enter data
- Remaining metrics: Calculated or echoed from the AHU, Equip, and RCI sheets (color coded).

The Return Temperature Index (RTI)[™] is a high-level measure for by-pass air and recirculation air (Herrlin 2008). For the RTI definitions, equations, and calculations, see the *Engineering Reference*. However, the interpretation is straight forward:

- Balanced airflows (total equipment airflow = total air-handler airflow); RTI=100%
- Net by-pass air (air bypasses the equipment and not contributing to cooling); RTI<100%
- RTI<90% indicate an over-ventilated space (A warning will be shown in red)
- Net recirculation air (air re-circulates from equipment exhaust to equipment intake); RTI>100%
- RTI>110% indicate an under-ventilated space (A warning will be shown in red).

If no data or insufficient data were entered in Step 1 (AHU) and Step 2 (Equip), multiple cells in Table A will be empty. If this happens, more likely than not, no energy estimates will be calculated in Step 6. Therefore, it is imperative that data are entered in both Step 1 and Step 2.

Rack Cooling Index (RCI)[®] is a measure of absence of over- and under-temperatures (Herrlin 2005). For the RCI definitions, equations, and calculations, see the *Engineering Reference*. However, the interpretation is again straight forward:

- Ideal (max): 100%
- Poor: <90% (A warning will be shown in red).

If no data was entered in Step 3 (RCI), the two RCI metric cells in Table A will be empty (Alt. 1). Typical (not extreme) maximum and minimum IT-equipment intake temperatures can then be entered in the yellow cells immediately below (Alt. 2). Note that Alt. 1 has priority over Alt. 2 should all four cells have values.

Table B lists air-management questions (Figure 8):

• Yellow cells: Enter data for Current and Target conditions.

The table has two columns:

- "Current" refers to existing data center architecture/controls.
- "Target" refers to realistic target data center architecture/controls. For Questions 3-10, this column is valid for raised-floor cooling only (Question 18 = Floor Plenum).

The table has three sections:

- Primary Input (impact on Energy estimates, Table 1 on Step 5 Main Results—if raised-floor cooling—and recommended Actions, Table 2 on Step 5 Main Results).
 - Questions 1 and 2: Recommended IT-equipment intake temperature range (this is a statement of equipment reliability) and Allowable IT-equipment intake temperature range (this is a statement of equipment functionality). The Current ranges will impact the numerical value of the RCI values calculated in Step 3 RCI. The drop-down boxes with the fixed options are activated by simply selecting the cells. The standard ASHRAE (2021) recommended range (65°-80°F) and the ASHRAE allowable A1 (59°-90°F) and A2 (50°-95°F) ranges are included. Two additional recommended ranges are provided: Wide and Narrow. They provide added flexibility in specifying a wider range (60°-85°F) and a narrower range (70°-75°F), respectively.
 - Questions 3-10 are considered the key factors for air management. These questions have three options: LOW, MID, and HIGH quality/implementation of the measure. (Question 15 has two options only: LOW and HIGH.) The drop-down boxes with the fixed options are activated by simply selecting the cells. A brief guidance on each option is also included. Note that only air-management measures can be rated for Current and Target conditions. For example, air-side economizers are not part of these measures.
 - Note that there is no input for the location of the temperature sensors for the control system. The AM-Tool assumes the preferred location; namely, at the electronic equipment intakes. The commonly used location at the air return is less accurate and the level of accuracy depends on the calibration with the intake temperatures. Return Air Temperature (RAT) sensing may require post-processing.
- Secondary Input (impact on recommended Actions only, Table 2 on Step 5 Main Results).
 - Questions 11-28 are mostly about physical characteristics of the data center. Most of the questions have drop-down boxes with fixed options. Activate the drop-down boxes simply by selecting the cells. Depending on the answers, downstream questions may appear or disappear. Question 15 imports data from Step 1.
- Management Practices Input (impact on recommended Management Actions only, Table 2 on Step 5 Main Results, Actions 38-44).
 - Questions 29-35 covers management practices with Yes or No answers. The drop-down boxes are activated by simply selecting the cells.

K Cut Copy K Form Clipbeard	at Painter		= 11 = A [*] □ = ☆ = ▲ Fort	A = 1		한 Wo 에 안 Me gnment	np Text nge & Cente		- % + Number	-1 41 -2	Conditional Formatting *	Format as Table *			Good <u>Followed H</u> Styles	Neutral (Hyperlink	Calcul		Insert I	kelete Format	∑ AutoSun ↓ Fill - <i>♦</i> Clear -	Sort & Filter*	Find & lelect *	
		v fe																						
A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н			J		к		L		M	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	T	4
tep 4: N	ANN INPUT																							
	Table A: N	Metrics (Ye	llow Cells: Ente	er data, re	emaining da	ta from t	he AHU,	Equip, ar	nd RCI she	ets (color	coded)).													
	Metric		Definition						_	Measu		Unit	-											
			Typical (airflo		and ALULAN			-		13.		For C	-		Table At I	ncludes calcul	ated metric	r from Sta	nr 1-3 (col	r coded)				
	ΔT _{AHU}											ForC	-			poling Index (I					-00%			
	ΔT _{Equip}		Typical (airflo		ea) equipm	ent temp	erature ri	se					-			Temperature								
	VAHU		Total AHU air					-		3000		cfm or m3/s			Return	Temperature	Index (RTI	: Balanc	ed=100%,	By-Pass<10	0%, Recirc>:	100%		
	VERVID		Total equipm						_	1449		cfm or m3/s												
	RTI		Return Tempe						_	48.	-	%	Ove	r-ventilated		uestions for (
	RCI _{HI}	Alt. 1*	Rack Cooling							99.		%				t" refers to re						ng.		
	RCI _{LO}	Alt. 1*	Rack Cooling						es	65/		%	Poo	Value	Quest	ions 3-10 are	considered	the key fai	tors for Ai	r Managem	ent.			
	IAT max	Alt. 2* Alt. 2*	Typical (not e Typical (not e							82		F or C F or C	-		Nature Con	yed out data f	in the second	and and a						
	SAT	Alt. 2	Typical (airflo							65/		ForC	1		Note: Gra	yed out data i	or internal	use only.						
	ASAT		Maximum dif							0.0		ForC												
	* Alt. 1 ha	s priority	over Alt. 2																					
	Table B: C	Questions	Yellow cells: Er	nter data)).																			
	Question	-						-					-	Current	-	arget	1							
	Question		Input (impact o	on Energy	estimates	if raised	floor cor	line	Irecomm	anded Ac	tions)		+	current	-	arget	4							
	1		Recommende								lionay		1	SHRAE/NEBS		Wide								
	2		Allowable IT e											ASHRAE A1		IRAE A2								
	3		Aisle containr											LOW		HIGH								
	4		Blanking pane											MID		MID								
	5		Floor leakage					if not ra	ised-floor	cooling)?				MID		MID								
	6		Tile/diffuser p EC-Class (equi					nlama-	ation?					MID		MID								
	8		Controls soph						ation?					LOW		HIGH								
	9	1	AHU modular						"High" if	not raised	-floor coo	ing)?		LOW		HIGH								
	10		Cable/pipe m											LOW		HIGH								
		Seconda	ary Input (impa					-																
	11		What is the cl											9										
	12		Is there a dro					flow ple	num)?					Yes										
	13		Is the IT equip					-	_					No										
	14		Are there cos											Yes										
	15		How many Al Do some area							-by units	r			2 Yes	Also Pr	imary Input								
	16		Is there any s											No										
	17		Which is the p					ionacion)						loor Plenum										
	10	Step 1 AM						n S Main I	Carolte	Step & Ener	me Danifte	Lookup A			(+)									

Figure 7: Step 4 Main Input sheet, upper part.



Figure 8: Step 4 Main Input sheet, lower part.

Step 5 Main Results

"Step 5 Main Results" is the first of two output sheets.

Table 1 lists numerical output based on user input (Figure 9).

There are four columns:

- Measured: Measured data (Step 4, Table A) with <u>Current</u> architecture/controls (Step 4, Table B, Questions #1-10)
- Commissioned: Achievable through commissioning with <u>Current</u> architecture/controls (Step 4, Table B, Questions #1 and 3-10) and Intake Air Temperature (IAT) sensing
- Retrofitted: Achievable through retrofit with <u>Target</u> architecture/controls (Step 4, Table B, Questions #1 and 3-10) and Intake Air Temperature (IAT) sensing
- State-of-the-Art: Achievable with State-of-the-Art architecture/controls (SAT based on Target recommended range).

The "Commissioned" and "Retrofitted" columns are valid for raised-floor cooling only (Step 4, Table B, Question 18 = Floor Plenum). Multiple cells may be empty if insufficient data have been provided in Steps 1-3.

There are six rows:

- 100/RTI = Total AHU Airflow/Total Equipment Airflow (V_{AHU}/V_{Equip}) [-]
- SAT = Typical (airflow weighted) AHU Supply Air Temperature [°F or °C]
- RAT = Typical (airflow weighted) AHU Return Air Temperature [°F or °C]
- RCI_{HI} = Rack Cooling Index (RCI)[®] "HI" [%]; measure of absence of over-temperatures
- RCI_{LO} = Rack Cooling Index (RCI)[®] "LO" [%]; measure of absence of under-temperatures
- V_{AHU} = Total Air-Handler Unit Airflow [cfm or m³/s].

By reading across the columns for the three first rows, the achievable improvements for three levels of air-management measures can quickly be evaluated. If CAV fans were selected on Step 4 Main Input (Question 8), see the Engineering Reference. The data are used for estimating the percentage savings for fan energy and chiller energy in Step 6 Energy Results. Since the Tool is using discrete look-up tables for calculating the numerical output, the results may not change if the input is only marginally changed.

Table 2 lists recommended Actions based on user input (figure 10).

The table has three sections:

- Actions for realizing Commissioned conditions in Table 1 (Actions 1-10)
- Actions for realizing Retrofitted or State-of-the-Art conditions in Table 1 (Actions 11-37)
- Management Practices (Actions 38-44).

Not applicable Actions are indicated by "N/A". By implementing recommended Actions (by revisiting user data input and/or question responses) further Actions may be provided.

Clipboard	t Painter								Normal	8			Neutr		Calculation		÷		Fil-	* 🐅 🔎	
Clipboard		B I U + ⊡ +	<u>∆ • </u> ▲ • = =	:= = = = =	rrge & Center + \$	- % + 1%	Al Con	ditional Form	nat as Check C	ell D	planatory	Followed H	Hyper	link	Input	÷.	Insert Delet	te Fonmat	Clear *	Sort & Find & Filter * Select *	
		Font		Alignment		Number	rom	satting - tai	4e -		25	tes					Cells			iting	
		V 6																			
														-							
A	В	C	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	K	L	м	N	0	Р	Q	R		S T	U	V
	AIN RESUL	**																			
step 5: M	MIN RESUL	15																			
									Table 1: N	umerical o	utput base	d on user inp	out.								
	Table 1: N	umerical Output B	ased on User Inp	ut.					Measur			nt architect		ols (Table	B, Questic	ons 1-10)					
									Commis	sioned:	Achievable	with Curre	nt architer	ture/cont	crois (Table	a B, Quest	tions 1 and	d 3-10)			
		Measured	Commissioned	Retrofitted	State-of-the-Art				Retrofit	ted:	Achievable	with Targe	t architect	ure/contro	ols (Table	B, Questi	ons 1 and	3-10)			
	100/RTI	2.07	2.07	1.30	1.00				State-o	f-the-Art:	State-of-th	e-Art archit	ecture/co	ntrols (SA7	f based on	Target re	acommend	ded range	e)		
	SAT	65.0	66.0	81.0	83.0	F or C															
	RAT	78.3	79.3	102.2	110.6	F or C			Note: T	he "Comn	issioned" a	nd "Retrofit	ted" colun	nns valid fi	or raised-f	foor cooli	ing only.				
	RCI _{HI}	99.5	%	("*" means at lea	ist one intake > ma	x allowable)			100/RT	I [™] = Total	AHU Airflo	v/Total IT Ec	ulpment	Airflow (V	AHU/VEquip)						
	RCILO	65.0	* %	("*" means at lea	ist one intake < mir	n allowable)			SAT = T	pical (airf	low weight	ed) AHU Sup	ply Air Ter	nperature							
	VAHU	30000.0	cfm or m3/s						RAT = T	ypical (air	low weight	ed) AHU Ret	urn Air Te	mperatur							
														-							
									Table 2: R	commen	ded actions	based on us	er input.								
									Tip: By	implemer	ting recom	nended acti	ons (by re-	visiting us-	er data ing	out and/c					
									questio	n respons	es) further a	ctions may	be provide	ad.							
	Table 2: R	ecommended Act	ions Based on Use	ar Input.																	
	#	Actions												1.0346							
				conditions in Tabl	e 1								#2								
	1	Calibrate Temper	ature (and Humid	ity) Sensors																	
	2	N/A		ovide Adequate Pre		-		-							112						
	4			ipment Airflow to A					-						112	3 Wiln					
	5	N/A	re natio or n'equ	princine Particular COV				-	-												
	6	N/A																			
	7	N/A																			
	8	Supply Air has Un	der-Temperature	for Current Archite	cture/Controls, Se	e Table 1									84			Ret			
	9	Under-Temperatu	ires; Improve Air I	Management and/o	or Increase the Sup	ply Air Temp	perature														
	10	N/A												Note: Gra	yed out da	ita for inti	ernal use o	only.			
				State-of-the-Art co	inditions in Table 1	1															
	11	Network the CRA	C/H Controls						-												
	12	N/A							-												
	13	N/A N/A						-													
	14		anum: Enrure Ma	tch between Heat I	and and Planum V	leight			-												
	16	N/A	enum, ensure Ma	ten between heat	Cood and Piendin P	- Bur		-	-												
	10	N/A						-	-												
	18		ed Cables and Otl	her Obstructions fr	om Floor Plenum			-													
	19	N/A																			
	20	N/A																			
	21			Speed Drives (VFD)																	
	22		ent in Straight Ro	ws; Prerequisite fo	r Hot and Cold Aisl	les															
	22	Stan 1 Abili	2 Equip Step 31	RCI Step 4 Main In	Step 5 Main R	secults Sto	o 6 Eneroy R	esuits 1	ohin Artic	n Rules	Export	(+)									

Figure 9: Step 5 Main Results sheet, upper part.

te → Cut → Copy → Forma Clipboard	•	B I U + 🗄 + 💩 + 📥 + 📰 = = = = 🖽 🕮 🛗 Marge & Center + S + % + 12 # 25 Conditional Formations Televel Hy Here Kinge & Level And	eutral <u>(perlink</u>	Calculation	- b	rsert Delete F	Format	AutoSum * Fill * Clear * Edit	Sort & Find & Filter * Select *	
29 *										
A	В		0	P	Q	R	s	т	U	v
			#2 "ste				Ret VAV			
	1									
	2									
	3			11			Min			
	4				# Units CAV		# Units CAV			
	6									
	7									
	8									
	9	Under-Temperatures; Improve Air Management and/or Increase the Supply Air Temperature								
	10		Note	Grayed out da	ata for inter	mal use onl	v			
		Actions for realizing Retrofitted or State-of-the-Art conditions in Table 1	Hote.	onayeu out ut	ru for inter	inar use oni	7.			
	11									
	12									
	13									
	14									
	15									
	16	N/A								
	17	N/A								
	18	Remove Abandoned Cables and Other Obstructions from Floor Plenum								
	19	N/A								
	20	N/A								
	21									
	22									
	23									
	24									
	25									
	26									
	27									
	28									
	29									
	30									
	31									
	32									
	33									
	34									
	36									
	30									
	- 3/	Management Practices								
	38									
	39									
	40									
	41									
	42									
	43									
	44	N/A								
	Overview	🗰 Step 1 AHU Step 2 Equip Step 3 RCI Step 4 Main Input Step 5 Main Results. Step 6 Energy Results Lookup Action Rules Export 🕀								

Figure 10: Step 5 Main Results sheet, lower part.

Step 6 Energy Results

"Step 6 Energy Results" is the second of two output sheets.

This sheet contains % energy reduction, kWh reduction, and associated \$ and CO₂ (carbon) savings for supply fans and chillers; all other results can be found in Step 5 Main Results.

The two bar charts shown here are based on Table 1 in Step 5 Main Results. Since the Tool is using discrete look-up tables for calculating the numerical output, the percentage savings may not change if the input is only marginally changed.

The "Measured" bars are the reference (100%) and values above 100% for the other bars will not be displayed. Obviously, this is a situation that should be avoided—the goal is to decrease the energy demand, not increase it. The "Commissioned" and "Retrofitted" bars are valid for raised-floor cooling only (Step 4, Table B, Question 18 = Floor Plenum).

With adequate air management, the reduction in fan energy is often very large due to the fact that the fan energy varies close to the cube of the airflow. It is not uncommon to be in the 70-80% range.



Figure 11: Step 6 Energy Results sheet

Input data (yellow cells):

The calculations of fan and chiller energy and associated costs can be controlled by five input boxes.

• Fan Exponent [-].

For fully turbulent airflow, there is a cubical (^3) relationship between fan energy and airflow whereas for fully laminar airflow there is a quadratic (^2) relationship. For data centers, the majority of the flow resistance is turbulent. Therefore, an exponent of 2.8 can often be used.

• Chiller Factor [%/°F or %/°C].

The chiller energy reduction depends on the supply air temperature as a percentage saving per degree increase. For data center applications, a factor between 1 and 3 (I-P) or 2 and 5 (SI) is common.

- Measured Annual Fan Energy [kWh/year].
 Enter the measured annual fan energy in kWh/year. This entry together with chart values will be used to calculate the fan energy for the Commissioned, Retrofitted, and State-of-the-Art scenarios (displayed under the chart).
- Measured Annual Chiller Energy [kWh/year].
 Enter the measured annual chiller energy in kWh/year. This entry together with chart values will be used to calculate the chiller energy for the Commissioned, Retrofitted, and State-of-the-Art scenarios (displayed under the chart).
- Electric Cost [\$/kWh].
 Enter the electric cost in \$/kWh. This entry together with kWh/year will be used to calculate the associated dollar costs for all four scenarios: Measured, Commissioned, Retrofitted, and State-of-the-Art (displayed under both charts).
- Emission Rate [lbs/kWh].

Enter the CO₂ (carbon) emission rate in lbs/kWh. This entry together with kWh/year will be used to calculate the associated annual carbon emissions for all four scenarios: Measured, Commissioned, Retrofitted, and State-of-the-Art (displayed under both charts).

The Emissions & Generation Resource Integrated Database (eGRID) is a comprehensive source of data on the environmental characteristics of almost all electric power generated in the United States. The map below from eGRID (2018) provides an overview of the CO₂ emission rates across the United States. Note that the map is using lbs/MWh whereas the tool is using lbs/kWh.

The correlation with type of generation fuel is evident. States with a high percentage of coal are colored dark blue or >1,500 lbs. CO_2/MWh electric generation (e.g., West Virginia), and states with a high percentage of clean (hydro) power are colored light blue or <500 lbs. CO_2/MWh (e.g., Washington State). If more current and/or detailed information is needed for a specific location, please contact your energy provider.

For calculation details, see the *Engineering Reference*.



Figure 12. CO₂ (carbon) emission rates (lbs/MWh) and electricity generation fuel mix.

Lookup

This sheet is initially a hidden since there are no user inputs or user outputs. If the sheet is made visible, please do not enter or change data. The screen shot below has been included for completeness only.

For calculation details and the significance of the lookup tables, see the *Engineering Reference*.



Figure 13: Lookup sheet.

Action Rules

This sheet is initially hidden since it does not contain any user inputs or user outputs. No screen shot is included for this sheet. Instead, please open the Tool and then select tab Action Rules (after making it visible) for viewing the sheet.

The Action Rules are rule-sets for triggering certain Actions or recommendations in Step 5 Main Results, Table 2 based on user input, mainly Table B in Step 4 Main Input, and the rather self-explanatory rulesets on this sheet. Across the top of the spreadsheet, the Questions from Step 4 Main Input are listed as table columns. The rows in the table represent the resulting Actions or recommendations. In the body of the table are the actual rules or the conditions that trigger Actions.

See also the *Engineering Reference*.

Export

This last sheet is also initially hidden. The purpose of this sheet is to summarize output that may be used for post-processing, for example in whole-building simulation packages. The table cells are color coded per the originating sheet (tab) color.



Figure 14: Export sheet.

SUMMARY OF REQUIRED NUMERICAL INPUT DATA

This table provides a quick reference for Tool input data. For details, see the associated Program Step(s) in this User's Manual.

	Unit	Program Step
AHU Airflow	cfm or m ³ /s	Step 1 AHU
AHU Supply Air Temperature	°F or °C	Step 1 AHU
AHU Return Air Temperature	°F or °C	Step 1 AHU
Equipment Temperature Rise	°F or °C	Step 2 Equip
Equipment Airflow	cfm or m ³ /s	Step 2 Equip
Number of Equipment Units	-	Step 2 Equip
1) IT-Equipment Heat Release: P _{in}	W	Step 2 Equip
2) UPS Heat Release: P _{in} -P _{out}	W	
IT-Equipment Intake Temperature	°F or °C	Step 3 RCI
Typical Max IT-Equipment Intake Temperature	°F or °C	Step 4 Main Input
Typical Min IT-Equipment Intake Temperature	°F or °C	Step 4 Main Input
Recommended IT-Equipment Intake Temperature Range	°F or °C	Step 4 Main Input
Allowable IT-Equipment Intake Temperature Range	°F or °C	Step 4 Main Input
Measured Annual Fan/Chiller Energy	kWh/year	Step 6 Energy Results
Energy Cost	\$/kWh	Step 6 Energy Results
CO ₂ Emission Rate	lbs/kWh	Step 6 Energy Results

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ΔT_{AHU}	Typical (airflow weighted) AHU temperature drop [°F or °C]
ΔT_{Equip}	Typical (airflow weighted) equipment temperature rise [°F or °C]
AHU	Air-Handler Unit
AM	Air Management
By-pass	Cool air that by passes the electronic equipment
Commissioned	Achievable with Current architecture/controls
CRAC	Computer Room Air Conditioner
CRAH	Computer Room Air Handlers
Current	Current architecture/controls in data center
DC Pro	DOE Data Center Profiling Tool
DOE	U.S. Department of Energy
DT	Temperature differential across Equipment [°F or °C]
Equip	Equipment (IT and Electrical)
HVAC	Heating, Ventilating, and Air-Conditioning
IAT max	Typical (not extreme) maximum IT-equipment intake temperature [°F or °C]
IAT min	Typical (not extreme) minimum IT-equipment intake temperature [°F or °C]
Measured	Measured data with Current architecture/controls
Ρ	Power [W] or [kW]
RAT	Return air temperature [°F or °C]
RCI	Rack Cooling Index (RCI) [®] [%]
RCI _{HI}	Rack Cooling Index (RCI) $^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{B}}}$ "HI" [%]; Measure of absence of over-temperatures
RCILO	Rack Cooling Index (RCI) $^{\ensuremath{\mathbb{B}}}$ "LO" [%]; Measure of absence of under-temperatures
Recirculation	Hot equipment exhaust re-circulated back to the equipment intakes
Retrofitted	Achievable with Target architecture/controls

RTI	Return Temperature Index (RTI) TM [%]; $\Delta T_{AHU} / \Delta T_{Equip} = V_{Equip} / V_{AHU}$
SAT	Typical (airflow weighted) AHU supply air temperature [°F or °C]
∆SAT	Maximum difference between AHU supply air temperatures [°F or °C]
State-of-the-Art	State-of-the-Art architecture/controls
Target	Realistic target architecture/controls for raised-floor cooling
Ton	Ton Cooling = 3.52 kW
U	Number of Equipment Units [-]
V _{AHU}	Total Air-Handler Unit airflow [cfm or m ³ /s]
V _{Equip}	Total equipment airflow [cfm or m ³ /s]

REFERENCES

ASHRAE, 2021. Thermal Guidelines for Data Processing Environments. www.ashrae.org

DOE. 2021. DOE Software Tool Suite. http://datacenters.lbl.gov/tools

DOE. 2014a. Engineering Reference. http://datacenters.lbl.gov/tools

DOE. 2014b. Data Collection Guide. http://datacenters.lbl.gov/tools

eGRID, 2018. Emissions & Generation Resource Integrated Database (eGRID) <u>http://epa.gov/egrid</u>

Herrlin, M. K. 2005. Rack Cooling Effectiveness in Data Centers and Telecom Central Offices: The Rack Cooling Index (RCI). ASHRAE Transactions, Volume 111, Part 2, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., Atlanta, GA (free download at <u>www.ancis.us</u>)

Herrlin, M. K. 2008. Airflow and Cooling Performance of Data Centers: Two Performance Metrics. ASHRAE Transactions, Volume 114, Part 2, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., Atlanta, GA (free download at <u>www.ancis.us</u>)